
Pg. 1 of 5 
 

TOWN OF COLUMBIA 
PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION 

Adella G. Urban Administrative Offices Conference Room 
323 Route 87, Columbia, CT 

Monday, January 22, 2018   7:00 pm 
Regular Meeting Minutes 

 
 

Members Present:  Chairman Rick Nassiff,  Vice Chair Vera Englert, E.J. Starkel, Don Schofield, Richard 
Napolitano, Thomas Currier,  Larry Preston (Alternate). 
Members Excused:  Robert Powell, Walt Tabor 
Staff Present: Town Planner Paula Stahl, Board Clerk Terri Lasota  
Others Present:  Walt Tabor, Nancy Tabor, Dan O’Neill, Ann Dunnack, Jeanne Crum, Carole Williamson, Cindee 
Hodge, First Selectman Steve Everett, Selectman Lisa Napolitano, and 10 others.  
 

1. CALL TO ORDER:  Rick Nassiff called the meeting to order at 7:00pm 

2. ROLL CALL AND SEATING OF ALTERNATES:  Larry Preston was seated for Robert Powell 

3. ADDITIONS/CHANGES TO AGENDA:  None 

4. APPROVAL OF PZC REGULAR MEETING MINUTES OF December 11, 2017: EJ Starkel MOVED to APPROVE 
the 12/11/2017 meeting minutes as written; R. Napolitano SECONDED.  MOTION CARRIED  6:0:1.   
R. Nassiff ABSTAINED. 

5. AUDIENCE OF CITIZENS:  None 

6. OPEN PUBLIC HEARING:   R. Nassiff opened the Public Hearing at 7:01pm 

6.1.  PZC-1718-05 :  Application of Walter Tabor (Heartstone Farm & Winery LLC) for a Special Permit  
 
R. Nassiff read the application into record. 
 
Walt Tabor presented the application and talked about the winery previously being approved in 
February of 2016 for tastings and the sale of wine through existing zoning regulations.  He also talked 
about being compliant with the new regulations and the potential use of the 1800 sq ft first floor and 
patio area, and increase use of existing building for birthday and other parties.  W. Tabor noted what 
purposes the various existing and intended areas and buildings served, and also read his statement of 
use for the benefit of the public audience.  
 
R. Napolitano asked if 20 events per year were going to be enough, W. Tabor said that this is a farm 
first and a winery second, and felt that with the farm keeping them as busy as it does 20 events per 
year would be enough.  
 
Tom Cretella was concerned about the need for expanding again in less than a year since the initial 
application was submitted, he was also concerned about possible food services and asked why this 
was being shoehorned into a residential area.  R. Nassiff said the regulations were modified last year, 
allowing for farm/wineries and the application of this type is permitted under the current regulations.  
T. Cretella also noted his concerns of property devaluing.  R. Nassiff assured him that various criteria 
would be taken into consideration.    
 
Both Rob Helstrom and Alice Williams agreed that the farm winery is a positive impact and an asset to 
the town that would increase property values. 
 



Pg. 2 of 5 
 

Jeanie Crum was concerned with number of people allowed at events and traffic issues on Route 87. 
W. Tabor said there was a maximum of 100 people allowed for wine tastings and daily business, and 
private events allowed a maximum of 150 people.  He added that he had met with the Department of 
Transportation and they concluded that there would be no concerning impact, but he would be 
widening the driveway entrance onto route 87 to make entering and exiting easier. 
 
Judy Ortiz and Ann Dunnack both said the winery would be a positive asset to the town since it is 
lacking in businesses, restaurants and gathering places, and would rather see a winery than a Walmart 
in town.  
 
W. Tabor responded that this is by no means a restaurant facility.  People are allowed to bring their 
own food to the winery, but people keep asking to have snacks or premade finger foods of some sort.  
They will not be serving meals, only premade snacks but need to have an area to set up food for 
events.  V. Englert questioned if that would be in the 30x34 building; W. Tabor said yes the smaller of 
the two. 
 
Lisa Napolitano said the winery is a good idea, and a good way for keeping open space, and hoped to 
see them grow their business in the future. 
 
John Pokorny was concerned with future growth and if there would be limits or if it would be turned 
into a warehouse situation.  R. Nassiff said we can only address the application as it has been 
received.  W. Tabor said this application was very specific and must be renewed every 2 years so if 
there are any issues or concerns they would be addressed;  the current plan shown is the long term 
plan. 
 
 Shamus Holleran asked about outdoor music.  W. Tabor explained the topography, sound, and 
acoustics, and showed the plans and existing buildings, noted planting fields of vegetative cover, 
explained where the patio and berm is, all showing how sound wouldn't impact neighbors.  He added 
that they must show the ZEO that the sound is not bothering anyone, and they want to be good 
neighbors.   S. Holleran then asked about a speed limit being posted on driveway.  Mr. Tabor said it 
was a good idea.   
 
Carol Williams said she is thrilled with winery, sees it as a relief of tax burden, and glad they are in 
town. 
 
Steve Everett asked about the months of the years the winery would be in operation, and how many 
events per year they were planning to have.  He then asked about the available number of parking 
spaces and the parking overflow.  W. Tabor said the application requests 20 events per year with the 
opened season being April through November, and the currently parking allows for 25 cars and is 
requesting a 25 car overflow.  He added that he would rather have more parking than not enough. 
 
S. Everett noted his concerns with vehicles speeding and patrons drinking responsibility.  W. Tabor 
replied that he shares those same concerns and is addressing them.  S. Everett also asked about the 
finger foods, food warmers and the music.  W. Tabor commented that the music would be mostly 
inside but wanted to have the ability for music for the outdoor events. 
 
Paula Stahl clarified the food concerns, noting that the zoning regulations specifies finger foods; 
however, most events have caterers who would need a food preparation area and be able to keep 
foods warm.  Our regulations do not permit a winery to have a restaurant or prepared meals. 
 
T. Cretella had questions about other types of alcohol and adult parties like stag parties.  W. Tabor 



Pg. 3 of 5 
 

said no other alcohol is permitted and the winery is meant to be more upper class.  Mr. Cretella was 
also concerned about seeing the winery events from his yard.  W. Tabor said he was ordering and 
planting over 700 aggressive trellis plants 10 rows deep that would alleviate that problem and assured 
him that based on the land topography and plans for various planting, this shouldn’t be an issue. 
 
V.  Englert asked about fertilizers and chemicals, Mr. Tabor explained growth patterns and said that 
due to fungus, grapes can’t be grown organically and they need to be protected, and he is very 
conscience of what is used on the grapes. 
 
Jeanne Crum also asked about hard alcohol other than wine.  P. Stahl said this was something that the 
state controls, and that the Tabors could only apply for a winery.  She added that caterers also have 
permit guidelines that they must follow.   
 
P. Stahl read an email comment from Tom McGrath in support of the winery. 
 
Don Schofield asked if the Statement of Use was consistent with our regulations as they are currently 
written and within state guidelines, P. Stahl and W. Tabor acknowledged that it was.  D. Schofield is 
also an abutter to and in favor of the winery. 
 
P. Stahl stated for the record that this public hearing was originally scheduled for January 8th, 2018, 
but by state law had to be rescheduled because the Chronicled failed to publish the second required 
notice.  For this hearing, the public has properly notified and the application has already been 
reviewed by the Inland Wetlands and Watercourse Commission, and read the statement from 
Wetlands Agent John Valente. 
 
Thomas Currier said the Tabors were here because the regulations had changed;  the commission was 
charged with changing regulations in favor of farming and promote diversification for farmers in 
town, from the honor system farm stand, farms, and wineries, wine trails, etc., so the regulations  
were changed to better encompass all of these things. 
 
EJ Starkel said he was 100% in favor of the winery, the application was submitted properly, but 
doesn't like to see limitations on operation hours; he also thought the number of events should be 
raised to at least  1 per weekend.  W. Tabor thanked him but said he was happy with the application 
as-is. 
 
Rich Napolitano said in order to keep agriculture in the towns, this is what needs to be done to keep 
small business agriculture and farming in town, otherwise the land gets turned into either housing, or 
turned into corporate farming.  This is the only way to keep competitive; if they had to grow grapes 
and make the wine elsewhere too many middlemen are added and the small farmer can’t survive 
selling his own produce. 
 
Nancy Tabor said we need to remember this is result of farming,  and the wine is a result of many 
hours and hard work; she is happy with hours of operation the way they are. 
 
V. Englert MOVED to CLOSE the public hearing; EJ Starkel SECONDED.  MOTION CARRIED 7:0:0 
The public hearing was closed at 7:59pm 
Walter Tabor recused himself and left the meeting room. 
 
 
 



Pg. 4 of 5 
 

7. UNFINISHED BUSINESS (Discussion/Possible Action)  
 
 
7.1 PZC-1718-05 :  Application of Walter Tabor (Heartstone Farm & Winery LLC) for a Special Permit 
 
R. Nassiff asked the commission members for their thoughts and input. 
 
EJ Starkel suggested that the application should be approved as written. 
 
R. Napolitano said a farm needs to run that way to stay profitable and we don't want corporate farming. 
 
L. Preston commented that the objective is for regulations to allow farms to survive and talked about another 
winery in the state and how they make a living; he said farmers must evolve to new business model and 
thought the Tabor’s have done all the right things. 
 
V. Englert said as long as it stays true to farming first, and doesn’t turn into commercial farming causing 
problem with neighbors, and there is a two year renewal requirement she doesn't have a problem with the 
application. 
 
D. Schofield said he is retired and doesn't really notice the cars driving in and out.  He was concerned with 
zoning changing by creep but says he loves the idea of a winery. 
 
T.  Currier said he liked the idea of speed bumps in the driveway to keep cars from gaining too much speed on 
their way out onto route 87.  D. Schofield noted that it was gravel but agreed that something could be done to 
alleviate the possible issue.  R. Nassiff added that it would be in the best interest of the owner to do so. 
 
P. Stahl addressed V. Englert’s comment noting that it is not a renewal, it is a 2 year extension for the event 
portion; she also noted the "creep" changes and referred to previous regulations and minutes, and read from 
the liquor permit application referred to the ZEO approval.  D. Schofield was concerned about any small 
changes in regulations 5 years down the line.  P. Stahl said that any approvals can include specifications. 
 
R. Nassiff suggested to stick with the limitations asked for and accept the application as-is, since they can come 
back with any modifications if they are needed. 
 
R. Nassiff MOVED to APPROVE the application of Walter Tabor for Heartstone Farm & Winey LLC per the 
application submitted including the site plan and statement of use, and statements made by the applicant at 
the hearing, specifically to permit the expansion of the indoor and outdoor tasting areas, attendance limited to 
100, operating time limited to hours per the application, to provide prepared finger food; to construct a 
building for future needs for event catering food preparation, and to construct a storage building; two-year 
approval to hold up to 20 private events per year on the site including tents and other temporary structures 
limited to a gross floor area of 4,000 sq. ft. and a maximum attendance of 150 each event, subject to related 
zoning, building, wetland, fire marshal and health department approvals prior to implementation; private 
event approval is for extendable two-year time periods per Section 21.5.6.i.  
EJ Starkel SECONDED. MOTION CARRIED 7:0:0  

 
 
 
 
 
 



Pg. 5 of 5 
 

8. NEW BUSINESS  

8.1.   Election of Officers 
 

D. Schofield MOVED to NOMINATE:  
R. Nassiff as Chairman, V. Englert as Vice Chairman, and R. Powell as Secretary.  
EJ Starkel SECONDED. MOTION CARRIED 7:0:0  
 
R. Nassiff MOVED to Elect:  
R. Nassiff as Chairman, V. Englert as Vice Chairman, and R. Powell as Secretary  
R. Napolitano SECONDED. MOTION CARRIED 6:0:1. V. Englert ABSTAINED  

 

9. REGULATION REVISIONS  

 Section 10 – Nonconformity 
 

Dan O'Neill, representing Columbia Lake Association, and Carole Williamson, ZBA, were present 
for the discussion.  R. Nassiff gave a brief overview of the PZC goal to have a table of setbacks and 
coverage for lots that don’t conform to the minimum lot area.  This change will mean that most 
applicants would not need to apply to ZBA, but would just need a zoning permit.   An applicant 
would still be able to apply to ZBA for a Special Permit as an option.   One change would be to the 
side setbacks, the minimum would still be 15’ but the minimum for combined sides would be 35’.     

D. O’Neill wanted to verify that approval of an application under the proposed table would be a 
permit thru building dept;   R. Nassiff confirmed that the maximum lot coverage currently is 15% 
and that wouldn’t change.  

C. Williamson also mentioned a concern with calculating lot coverage when the parcel is divided 
by a road.   She thought it would be helpful if the building dept could hand out pamphlet with 
setbacks and guidelines, when a new house was being built so they would understand. 

 

10. COMMUNICATIONS AND REPORTS: 
 
Reports permit comparison report 
 

11. COMMISSION OPEN DISCUSSION: None 
 

12. AUDIENCE OF CITIZENS: None 
 
13. ADJOURNMENT  

R. Nassiff MOVED to ADJOURN; EJ Starkel SECONDED.  
MOTION CARRIED 7:0:0 The meeting was adjourned at 8:44pm  

 
 
Respectfully submitted by Terri Lasota, Board Clerk 
Please see the minutes of subsequent meetings for approval of these minutes and any corrections hereto. 


